HKAS 28 (2011) Revised JanuarySeptember 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 28 (2011)

# Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures



Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 香港會計師公會

#### COPYRIGHT

© Copyright 2018 Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

This Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard contains IFRS Foundation copyright material. Reproduction within Hong Kong in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgment of the source. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights for commercial purposes within Hong Kong should be addressed to the Director, Finance and Operation, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 37/F., Wu Chung House, 213 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

All rights in this material outside of Hong Kong are reserved by IFRS Foundation. Reproduction of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards outside of Hong Kong in unaltered form (retaining this notice) is permitted for personal and non-commercial use only. Further information and requests for authorisation to reproduce for commercial purposes outside Hong Kong should be addressed to the IFRS Foundation at <u>www.ifrs.org</u>.

Further details of the copyright notice form IFRS Foundation is available at <a href="http://app1.hkicpa.org.hk/ebook/copyright-notice.pdf">http://app1.hkicpa.org.hk/ebook/copyright-notice.pdf</a>

#### CONTENTS

from paragraph

| INTRODUCTION   | IN1   |
|--|-------|
| HONG KONG ACCOUNTING STANDARD 28<br>INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES                                       |       |
| OBJECTIVE  | 1     |
| SCOPE  | 2     |
| DEFINITIONS  | 3     |
| SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE  | 5     |
| EQUITY METHOD  | 10    |
| APPLICATION OF THE EQUITY METHOD   | 16    |
| Exemptions from applying the equity method   | 17    |
| Classification as held for sale  | 20    |
| Discontinuing the use of the equity method   | 22    |
| Changes in ownership interest  | 25    |
| Equity method procedures   | 26    |
| Impairment losses  | 40    |
| SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  | 44    |
| EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION  | 45    |
| References to HKFRS 9  | 46    |
| WITHDRAWAL OF HKAS 28 (2004)   | 47    |
| APPENDIX   |       |
| COMPARISON WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS  |       |
| AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS 10 AND HKAS 28 SALE OR CONTRIBUTION OF A<br>BETWEEN AN INVESTOR AND ITS ASSOCIATE OR JOINT VENTURE | SSETS |
| MENDALIZA TA UKAA AA LANA TERK WITEREATA WI AAAAAAATEA AND   | 10111 |

AMENDMENTS TO HKAS 28 LONG-TERM INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS DISSENTING OPINION TABLE OF CONCORDANCE

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures* (HKAS 28) is set out in paragraphs 1–47. All the paragraphs have equal authority. HKAS 28 should be read in the context of its objective and the Basis for Conclusions, the *Preface to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards* and the *Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting*. HKAS 8 *Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors* provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.

#### Introduction

- IN1 Hong Kong Accounting Standard 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures* (HKAS 28) prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures.
- IN2 The Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is permitted.

#### Main features of the Standard

- IN3 HKAS 28 (as amended in 2011) is to be applied by all entities that are investors with joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee.
- IN4 The Standard defines significant influence as the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies.
- IN5 HKFRS 11 *Joint Arrangements* establishes principles for the financial reporting of parties to joint arrangements. It defines joint control as the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
- IN6 An entity applies HKFRS 11 to determine the type of joint arrangement in which it is involved. Once it has determined that it has an interest in a joint venture, the entity recognises an investment and accounts for it using the equity method in accordance with HKAS 28 (as amended in 2011), unless the entity is exempted from applying the equity method as specified in the Standard.

#### **Equity method**

- IN7 The Standard defines the equity method as a method of accounting whereby the investment is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the investor's share of net assets of the investee. The profit or loss of the investor includes its share of the profit or loss of the investee and the other comprehensive income of the investor includes its share of other comprehensive income of the investee.
- IN8 An entity uses the equity method to account for its investments in associates or joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements. An entity that does not have any subsidiaries also uses the equity method to account for its investments in associates or joint ventures in its financial statements even though those are not described as consolidated financial statements. An entity could elect to use the equity method in its separate financial statements that it presents in accordance with HKAS 27 Separate Financial Statements.

#### Exemptions from applying the equity method

- IN9 The Standard provides exemptions from applying the equity method similar to those provided in HKFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements* for parents not to prepare consolidated financial statements.
- IN10 The Standard also provides exemptions from applying the equity method when the investment in the associate or joint venture is held by, or is held indirectly through, venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds. Those investments in associates and joint ventures may be measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 *Financial Instruments*.

#### Disclosure

IN11 The disclosure requirements for entities with joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee are specified in HKFRS 12 *Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities*.

#### Hong Kong Accounting Standard 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

#### Objective

1 The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting for investments in associates and to set out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures.

#### Scope

2 This Standard shall be applied by all entities that are investors with joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee.

#### Definitions

3 The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence.

Consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of a group in which assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent and its subsidiaries are presented as those of a single economic entity.

The equity method is a method of accounting whereby the investment is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the investor's share of the investee's net assets. The investor's profit or loss includes its share of the investee's profit or loss and the investor's other comprehensive income includes its share of the investee's other comprehensive income.

A *joint arrangement* is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control.

*Joint control* is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

A *joint venture* is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

A *joint venturer* is a party to a joint venture that has joint control of that joint venture.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies.

- 4 The following terms are defined in paragraph 4 of HKAS 27 Separate Financial Statements and in Appendix A of HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and are used in this Standard with the meanings specified in the HKFRSs in which they are defined:
  - control of an investee
  - group
  - parent
  - separate financial statements
  - subsidiary.

#### **Significant influence**

- 5 If an entity holds, directly or indirectly (eg through subsidiaries), 20 per cent or more of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity has significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. Conversely, if the entity holds, directly or indirectly (eg through subsidiaries), less than 20 per cent of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity does not have significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly demonstrated. A substantial or majority ownership by another investor does not necessarily preclude an entity from having significant influence.
- 6 The existence of significant influence by an entity is usually evidenced in one or more of the following ways:
  - (a) representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the investee;
  - (b) participation in policy-making processes, including participation in decisions about dividends or other distributions;
  - (c) material transactions between the entity and its investee;
  - (d) interchange of managerial personnel; or
  - (e) provision of essential technical information.
- 7 An entity may own share warrants, share call options, debt or equity instruments that are convertible into ordinary shares, or other similar instruments that have the potential, if exercised or converted, to give the entity additional voting power or to reduce another party's voting power over the financial and operating policies of another entity (ie potential voting rights). The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether an entity has significant influence. Potential voting rights are not currently exercisable or convertible when, for example, they cannot be exercised or converted until a future date or until the occurrence of a future event.

- 8 In assessing whether potential voting rights contribute to significant influence, the entity examines all facts and circumstances (including the terms of exercise of the potential voting rights and any other contractual arrangements whether considered individually or in combination) that affect potential rights, except the intentions of management and the financial ability to exercise or convert those potential rights.
- 9 An entity loses significant influence over an investee when it loses the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of that investee. The loss of significant influence can occur with or without a change in absolute or relative ownership levels. It could occur, for example, when an associate becomes subject to the control of a government, court, administrator or regulator. It could also occur as a result of a contractual arrangement.

#### **Equity method**

- 10 Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The investor's share of the investee's profit or loss is recognised in the investor's profit or loss. Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be necessary for changes in the investor's proportionate interest in the investee arising from changes in the investee's other comprehensive income. Such changes include those arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment and from foreign exchange translation differences. The investor's share of those changes is recognised in the investor's other comprehensive income (see HKAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements*).
- 11 The recognition of income on the basis of distributions received may not be an adequate measure of the income earned by an investor on an investment in an associate or a joint venture because the distributions received may bear little relation to the performance of the associate or joint venture. Because the investor has joint control of, or significant influence over, the investee, the investor has an interest in the associate's or joint venture's performance and, as a result, the return on its investment. The investor accounts for this interest by extending the scope of its financial statements to include its share of the profit or loss of such an investee. As a result, application of the equity method provides more informative reporting of the investor's net assets and profit or loss.
- 12 When potential voting rights or other derivatives containing potential voting rights exist, an entity's interest in an associate or a joint venture is determined solely on the basis of existing ownership interests and does not reflect the possible exercise or conversion of potential voting rights and other derivative instruments, unless paragraph 13 applies.
- 13 In some circumstances, an entity has, in substance, an existing ownership as a result of a transaction that currently gives it access to the returns associated with an ownership interest. In such circumstances, the proportion allocated to the entity is determined by taking into account the eventual exercise of those potential voting rights and other derivative instruments that currently give the entity access to the returns.

- 14 HKFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* does not apply to interests in associates and joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method. When instruments containing potential voting rights in substance currently give access to the returns associated with an ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture, the instruments are not subject to HKFRS 9. In all other cases, instruments containing potential voting rights in an associate or a joint venture are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 9.
- 15 Unless an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 *Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations*, the investment, or any retained interest in the investment not classified as held for sale, shall be classified as a non-current asset.

#### Application of the equity method

16 An entity with joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee shall account for its investment in an associate or a joint venture using the equity method except when that investment qualifies for exemption in accordance with paragraphs 17–19.

#### Exemptions from applying the equity method

- 17 An entity need not apply the equity method to its investment in an associate or a joint venture if the entity is a parent that is exempt from preparing consolidated financial statements by the scope exception in paragraph 4(a) of HKFRS 10 or if all the following apply:
  - (a) The entity is a wholly-owned subsidiary, or is a partially-owned subsidiary of another entity and its other owners, including those not otherwise entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not object to, the entity not applying the equity method.
  - (b) The entity's debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets).
  - (c) The entity did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its financial statements with a securities commission or other regulatory organisation, for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market.
  - (d) The ultimate or any intermediate parent of the entity produces financial statements available for public use that comply with HKFRSs or International Financial Reporting Standards, in which subsidiaries are consolidated or are measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 10 or IFRS 10.
- 18 When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is held by, or is held indirectly through, an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, the entity may elect to measure <u>that</u> investments in those associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9. <u>An entity shall make this election separately for each associate or joint venture, at initial recognition of the associate or joint venture.</u>

19 When an entity has an investment in an associate, a portion of which is held indirectly through a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, the entity may elect to measure that portion of the investment in the associate at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 regardless of whether the venture capital organisation, or the mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, has significant influence over that portion of the investment. If the entity makes that election, the entity shall apply the equity method to any remaining portion of its investment in an associate that is not held through a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds.

#### Classification as held for sale

- 20 An entity shall apply HKFRS 5 to an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or a joint venture that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been classified as held for sale shall be accounted for using the equity method until disposal of the portion that is classified as held for sale takes place. After the disposal takes place, an entity shall account for any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in accordance with HKFRS 9 unless the retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which case the entity uses the equity method.
- 21 When an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or a joint venture previously classified as held for sale no longer meets the criteria to be so classified, it shall be accounted for using the equity method retrospectively as from the date of its classification as held for sale. Financial statements for the periods since classification as held for sale shall be amended accordingly.

#### Discontinuing the use of the equity method

- 22 An entity shall discontinue the use of the equity method from the date when its investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture as follows:
  - (a) If the investment becomes a subsidiary, the entity shall account for its investment in accordance with HKFRS 3 *Business Combinations* and HKFRS 10.
  - (b) If the retained interest in the former associate or joint venture is a financial asset, the entity shall measure the retained interest at fair value. The fair value of the retained interest shall be regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKFRS 9. The entity shall recognise in profit or loss any difference between:
    - (i) the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture; and
    - (ii) the carrying amount of the investment at the date the equity method was discontinued.
  - (c) When an entity discontinues the use of the equity method, the entity shall account for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that investment on the same basis as would have been required if the investee had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

- 23 Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by the investee would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the entity reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. For example, if an associate or a joint venture has cumulative exchange differences relating to a foreign operation and the entity discontinues the use of the equity method, the entity shall reclassify to profit or loss the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the foreign operation.
- 24 If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the entity continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

#### Changes in ownership interest

25 If an entity's ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture is reduced, but the investment continues to be classified either as an associate or a joint venture respectively, the entity shall reclassify to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

#### Equity method procedures

- 26 Many of the procedures that are appropriate for the application of the equity method are similar to the consolidation procedures described in HKFRS 10. Furthermore, the concepts underlying the procedures used in accounting for the acquisition of a subsidiary are also adopted in accounting for the acquisition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
- A group's share in an associate or a joint venture is the aggregate of the holdings in that associate or joint venture by the parent and its subsidiaries. The holdings of the group's other associates or joint ventures are ignored for this purpose. When an associate or a joint venture has subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and net assets taken into account in applying the equity method are those recognised in the associate's or joint venture's financial statements (including the associate's or joint venture's share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and net assets of its associates and joint ventures), after any adjustments necessary to give effect to uniform accounting policies (see paragraphs 35 -36A).
- 28 Gains and losses resulting from 'upstream' and 'downstream' transactions between an entity (including its consolidated subsidiaries) and its associate or joint venture are recognised in the entity's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture. 'Upstream' transactions are, for example, sales of assets from an associate or a joint venture to the investor. 'Downstream' transactions are, for example, sales or contributions of assets from the investor to its associate or its joint venture. The investor's share in the associate's or joint venture's gains or losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated.
- 29 When downstream transactions provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be sold or contributed, or of an impairment loss of those assets, those losses shall be recognised in full by the investor. When upstream transactions provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be purchased or of an impairment loss of those assets, the investor shall recognise its share in those losses.

- 30 The contribution of a non-monetary asset to an associate or a joint venture in exchange for an equity interest in the associate or joint venture shall be accounted for in accordance with paragraph 28, except when the contribution lacks commercial substance, as that term is described in HKAS 16 *Property, Plant and Equipment*. If such a contribution lacks commercial substance, the gain or loss is regarded as unrealised and is not recognised unless paragraph 31 also applies. Such unrealised gains and losses shall be eliminated against the investment accounted for using the equity method and shall not be presented as deferred gains or losses in the entity's consolidated statement of financial position or in the entity's statement of financial position in which investments are accounted for using the equity method.
- 31 If, in addition to receiving an equity interest in an associate or a joint venture, an entity receives monetary or non-monetary assets, the entity recognises in full in profit or loss the portion of the gain or loss on the non-monetary contribution relating to the monetary or non-monetary assets received.
- 32 An investment is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which it becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment, any difference between the cost of the investment and the entity's share of the net fair value of the investee's identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as follows:
  - (a) Goodwill relating to an associate or a joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Amortisation of that goodwill is not permitted.
  - (b) Any excess of the entity's share of the net fair value of the investee's identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the entity's share of the associate or joint venture's profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Appropriate adjustments to the entity's share of the associate's or joint venture's profit or loss after acquisition are made in order to account, for example, for depreciation of the depreciable assets based on their fair values at the acquisition date. Similarly, appropriate adjustments to the entity's share of the associate's or joint venture's profit or loss after acquisition are made for impairment losses such as for goodwill or property, plant and equipment.

- 33 The most recent available financial statements of the associate or joint venture are used by the entity in applying the equity method. When the end of the reporting period of the entity is different from that of the associate or joint venture, the associate or joint venture prepares, for the use of the entity, financial statements as of the same date as the financial statements of the entity unless it is impracticable to do so.
- 34 When, in accordance with paragraph 33, the financial statements of an associate or a joint venture used in applying the equity method are prepared as of a date different from that used by the entity, adjustments shall be made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the entity's financial statements. In any case, the difference between the end of the reporting period of the associate or joint venture and that of the entity shall be no more than three months. The length of the reporting periods and any difference between the ends of the reporting periods shall be the same from period to period.

### 35 The entity's financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

- 36 Except as described in paragraph 36A, if an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies other than those of the entity for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments shall be made to make the associate's or joint venture's accounting policies conform to those of the entity when the associate's or joint venture's financial statements are used by the entity in applying the equity method.
- 36A Notwithstanding the requirement in paragraph 36, if an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, <u>elect to</u> retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate's or joint venture's interests in subsidiaries. <u>This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent.</u>
- 37 If an associate or a joint venture has outstanding cumulative preference shares that are held by parties other than the entity and are classified as equity, the entity computes its share of profit or loss after adjusting for the dividends on such shares, whether or not the dividends have been declared.
- If an entity's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, the entity discontinues recognising its share of further losses. The interest in an associate or a joint venture is the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or joint venture determined using the equity method together with any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the entity's net investment in the associate or joint venture. For example, an item for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, an extension of the entity's investment in that associate or joint venture. Such items may include preference shares and long-term receivables or loans, but do not include trade receivables, trade payables or any long-term receivables for which adequate collateral exists, such as secured loans. Losses recognised using the equity method in excess of the entity's investment in ordinary shares are applied to the other components of the entity's interest in an associate or a joint venture in the reverse order of their seniority (ie priority in liquidation).
- 39 After the entity's interest is reduced to zero, additional losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the entity has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture. If the associate or joint venture subsequently reports profits, the entity resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

#### Impairment losses

- 40 After application of the equity method, including recognising the associate's or joint venture's losses in accordance with paragraph 38, the entity applies HKAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement* to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to its net investment in the associate or joint venture. paragraphs 41A-41C to determine whether there is any objective evidence that its net investment in the associate or joint venture.
- 41 The entity also applies HKAS 39 to determine whether any additional impairment loss is recognised with respect to its interest in the associate or joint venture the impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to its other interests in the associate or joint

venture that are in the scope of HKFRS 9 and that does not constitute part of the net investment and the amount of that impairment loss.

- 41A The net investment in an associate or joint venture is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the net investment (a 'loss event') and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows from the net investment that can be reliably estimated. It may not be possible to identify a single, discrete event that caused the impairment. Rather the combined effect of several events may have caused the impairment. Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. Objective evidence that the net investment is impaired includes observable data comes to the attention of the entity about the following loss events:
  - (a) significant financial difficulty of the associate or joint venture;
  - (b) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments by the associate or joint venture;
  - (c) the entity, for economic or legal reasons relating to its associate's or joint venture's financial difficulty, granting to the associate or joint venture a concession that the entity would not otherwise consider;
  - (d) it becoming probable that the associate or joint venture will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
  - (e) the disappearance of an active market for the net investment because of financial difficulties of the associate or joint venture.
- <u>41B</u> The disappearance of an active market because the associate's or joint venture's equity of financial instruments are no longer publicly traded is not evidence of impairment. A downgrade of an associate's or joint venture's credit rating or a decline in the fair value of the associate or joint venture, is not of itself, evidence of impairment, although it may be evidence of impairment when considered with other available information.
- 41C In addition to the types of events in paragraph 41A, objective evidence of impairment for the net investment in the equity instruments of the associate or joint venture includes information about significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the associate or joint venture operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in the equity instrument may not be recovered. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its cost is also objective evidence of impairment.

- 42 Because goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an-the net investment in an associate or a joint venture is not separately recognised, it is not tested for impairment separately by applying the requirements for impairment testing goodwill in HKAS 36 *Impairment of Assets.* Instead, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset, by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount<sub>7</sub> whenever application of HKAS <u>39</u>-paragraphs <u>41A-41C</u> indicates that the <u>net</u> investment may be impaired. An impairment loss recognised in those circumstances is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the <u>net</u> investment in the associate or joint venture. Accordingly, any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the <u>net</u> investment, an entity estimates:
  - (a) its share of the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the associate or joint venture, including the cash flows from the operations of the associate or joint venture and the proceeds from the ultimate disposal of the investment; or
  - (b) the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to arise from dividends to be received from the investment and from its ultimate disposal.

Using appropriate assumptions, both methods give the same result.

43 The recoverable amount of an investment in an associate or a joint venture shall be assessed for each associate or joint venture, unless the associate or joint venture does not generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of those from other assets of the entity.

#### Separate financial statements

An investment in an associate or a joint venture shall be accounted for in the entity's separate financial statements in accordance with paragraph 10 of HKAS 27 (as amended in 2011).

#### Effective date and transition

- An entity shall apply this Standard for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies this Standard earlier, it shall disclose that fact and apply HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 *Joint Arrangements*, HKFRS 12 *Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities* and HKAS 27 (as amended in 2011) at the same time.
- 45A [This paragraph refers to amendments that are not yet effective, and is therefore not included in this edition.] HKFRS 9, as issued in September 2014, amended paragraphs 40-42 and added paragraphs 41A-41C. An entity shall apply those amendments when it applies HKFRS 9.
- 45B Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to HKAS 27), issued in September 2014, amended paragraph 25. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies that amendment for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact.
- 45C [This paragraph refers to amendments that are not yet effective, and is therefore not included in this edition.]

- 45D *Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception* (Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28), issued in January 2015, amended paragraphs 17, 27 and 36 and added paragraph 36A. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies those amendments for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact.
- <u>45E</u> Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle, issued in March 2017, amended paragraphs 18 and 36A. An entity shall apply those amendments retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8 for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies those amendments for an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact.

#### **References to HKFRS 9**

46 If an entity applies this Standard but does not yet apply HKFRS 9, any reference to HKFRS 9 shall be read as a reference to HKAS 39.

#### Withdrawal of HKAS 28 (2004)

47 This Standard supersedes HKAS 28 Investments in Associates (issued in 2004)

#### Appendix Comparison with International Financial Reporting Standards

This comparison appendix, which was prepared in June 2011 and deals only with significant differences in the standards extant, is produced for information only and does not form part of the standards in HKAS 28.

The International Accounting Standard comparable with HKAS 28 is IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*.

There are no major textual differences between HKAS 28 and IAS 28.

#### Appendix Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The following sets out amendments required for this Standard resulting from amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be incorporated into the text of this Standard and this appendix will be deleted. In the amended paragraphs shown below, new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Paragraphs 28 and 30 are amended and paragraphs 31A–31B and 45A are added. Deleted text is struck through and new text is underlined. Paragraphs 29 and 31 are reproduced for ease of reference, but are not amended.

#### Equity method procedures

- Gains and losses resulting from 'upstream' and 'downstream' transactions <u>involving</u> <u>assets that do not constitute a business</u>, as defined in HKFRS 3, between an entity (including its consolidated subsidiaries) and its associate or joint venture are recognised in the entity's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture. 'Upstream' transactions are, for example, sales of assets from an associate or a joint venture to the investor. The entity's share in the associate's or the joint venture's gains or losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated. 'Downstream' transactions are, for example, sales or contributions of assets from the investor to its associate or its joint venture. The investor's share in the associate's or joint venture's gains or losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated.</u>
- 29 When downstream transactions provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be sold or contributed, or of an impairment loss of those assets, those losses shall be recognised in full by the investor. When upstream transactions provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of the assets to be purchased or of an impairment loss of those assets, the investor shall recognise its share in those losses.
- 30 The <u>gain or loss resulting from the</u> contribution of a non-monetary asset<u>s that do not</u> <u>constitute a business</u>, as defined in HKFRS 3, to an associate or a joint venture in exchange for an equity interest in the <u>that</u> associate or joint venture shall be accounted for in accordance with paragraph 28, except when the contribution lacks commercial substance, as that term is described in HKAS 16 *Property*, *Plant and Equipment*. If such a contribution lacks commercial substance, the gain or loss is regarded as unrealised and is not recognised unless paragraph 31 also applies. Such unrealised gains and losses shall be eliminated against the investment accounted for using the equity method and shall not be presented as deferred gains or losses in the entity's consolidated statement of financial position or in the entity's statement of financial position in which investments are accounted for using the equity method.
- 31 If, in addition to receiving an equity interest in an associate or a joint venture, an entity receives monetary or non-monetary assets, the entity recognises in full in profit or loss the portion of the gain or loss on the non-monetary contribution relating to the monetary or non-monetary assets received.

- <u>31A</u> The gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction involving assets that constitute a business, as defined in HKFRS 3, between an entity (including its consolidated subsidiaries) and its associate or joint venture is recognised in full in the investor's financial statements.
- <u>31B</u> An entity might sell or contribute assets in two or more arrangements (transactions). <u>When determining whether assets that are sold or contributed constitute a business</u>, <u>as defined in HKFRS 3</u>, an entity shall consider whether the sale or contribution of those assets is part of multiple arrangements that should be accounted for as a single transaction in accordance with the requirements in paragraph B97 of HKFRS 10.

• • •

Paragraph 45C is amended. New text relating to the 2014 Amendments is underlined. New text relating to the 2015 Amendments is underlined and shaded in grey. Deleted text relating to the 2015 Amendments is struck through and shaded in grey.

#### Effective date and transition

<u>45C</u> Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28), issued in October 2014, amended paragraphs 28 and 30 and added paragraphs 31A–31B. An entity shall apply those amendments prospectively to the sale or contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on or after <u>1</u> January 2016 a date to be determined. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies those amendments earlier, it shall disclose that fact.

#### Appendix Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

The following sets out amendments required for this Standard resulting from amendments to HKAS 28 that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be incorporated into the text of this Standard and this appendix will be deleted. In the amended paragraphs shown below, new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Paragraphs 14A and 45G–45K are added and paragraph 41 is deleted. Deleted text is struck through.

#### Equity method

14A An entity also applies HKFRS 9 to other financial instruments in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied. These include long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the entity's net investment in an associate or joint venture (see paragraph 38). An entity applies HKFRS 9 to such long-term interests before it applies paragraph 38 and paragraphs 40–43 of this Standard. In applying HKFRS 9, the entity does not take account of any adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests that arise from applying this Standard.

#### Application of the equity method

41 [Deleted] The entity applies the impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to its other interests in the associate or joint venture that are in the scope of HKFRS 9 and that do not constitute part of the net investment.

#### Effective date and transition

- 45G Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures, issued in January 2018, added paragraph 14A and deleted paragraph 41. An entity shall apply those amendments retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8 for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, except as specified in paragraphs 45H–45K. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies those amendments earlier, it shall disclose that fact.
- 45H An entity that first applies the amendments in paragraph 45G at the same time it first applies HKFRS 9 shall apply the transition requirements in HKFRS 9 to the long-term interests described in paragraph 14A.
- 451 An entity that first applies the amendments in paragraph 45G after it first applies HKFRS 9 shall apply the transition requirements in HKFRS 9 necessary for applying the requirements set out in paragraph 14A to long-term interests. For that purpose, references to the date of initial application in HKFRS 9 shall be read as referring to the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments (the date of initial application of the amendments). The entity is not required to restate prior periods to reflect the application of the amendments. The entity may restate prior periods only if it is possible without the use of hindsight.

- 45J When first applying the amendments in paragraph 45G, an entity that applies the temporary exemption from HKFRS 9 in accordance with HKFRS 4 *Insurance Contracts* is not required to restate prior periods to reflect the application of the amendments. The entity may restate prior periods only if it is possible without the use of hindsight.
- 45K If an entity does not restate prior periods applying paragraph 45I or paragraph 45J, at the date of initial application of the amendments it shall recognise in the opening retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) any difference between:
  - (a) the previous carrying amount of long-term interests described in paragraph 14A at that date; and
  - (b) the carrying amount of those long-term interests at that date.

#### CONTENTS

|   | from paragraph     |
|---|--------------------|
| BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS ON IAS 28   |                    |
| INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES  |                    |
| INTRODUCTION  | BC1                |
| The structure of IAS 28 and the Board's deliberations   | BC4                |
| SCOPE   | BC10               |
| SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE   | BC15               |
| Potential voting rights   | BC15               |
| APPLICATION OF THE EQUITY METHOD  | BCZ17              |
| Temporary joint control and significant influence (2003 revision)   | BCZ17              |
| Severe long-term restrictions impairing ability to transfer funds   | D0740              |
| to the investor (2003 revision)   | BCZ18              |
| Non-coterminous year-ends (2003 revision)   | BCZ19              |
| Exemption from applying the equity method: subsidiary of an   |                    |
| investment entity   | BC19A              |
| Exemption from applying the equity method: measuring an   |                    |
| associate or joint venture at fair value (amendments issued in Decembe  | er 2016) BC19B     |
| Exemptions from applying the equity method: partial use of fair<br>value measurement of associates  | BC <del>Z</del> 20 |
| Classification as held for sale   |                    |
|   | BC23               |
| Discontinuing the use of the equity method  | BC28               |
| Incorporation of SIC-13   | BC32               |
| Recognition of losses (2003 revision)   | BCZ38              |
| Impairment losses (2008 amendment)  | BCZ42              |
| Retaining the fair value measurement applied by an associate or joint   |                    |
| venture that is an investment entity  | BC46A              |
| EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION   | BC47               |
| GENERAL   | BC51               |
| Withdrawal of IAS 28 (2003 revision)  | BC51               |
| Disclosure  | BC52               |
| Summary of main changes from IAS 28 (2003 revision)   | BC56               |
| DISSENTING OPINION ON AMENDMENT ISSUED IN MAY 2008  | DO1                |
| TABLE OF CONCORDANCE  |                    |
| AMENDMENTS TO BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS ON IFRS 10<br>AND IAS 28 SALE OR CONTRIBUTION OF ASSETS BETWEEN<br>AN INVESTOR AND ITS ASSOCIATE OR JOINT VENTURE |                    |
| AMENDMENTS TO THE BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS ON<br>IAS 28 LONG-TERM INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE  | S                  |
| ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE—LONG-TERM INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES<br>JOINT VENTURES  | AND                |

### Basis for Conclusions on IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IAS 28.

HKAS 28 is based on IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*. In approving HKAS 28, the Council of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants considered and agreed with the IASB's Basis for Conclusions on IAS 28. Accordingly, there are no significant differences between HKAS 28 and IAS 28. The IASB's Basis for Conclusions is reproduced below. The paragraph numbers of IAS 28 referred to below generally correspond with those in HKAS 28.

#### Introduction

- BC1 This Basis for Conclusions summarises the International Accounting Standards Board's considerations in reaching its conclusions on amending IAS 28 *Investments in Associates* in 2011. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others.
- BC2 The amendment of IAS 28 resulted from the Board's project on joint ventures. When discussing that project, the Board decided to incorporate the accounting for joint ventures into IAS 28 because the equity method is applicable to both joint ventures and associates.
- BC3 As a result, the title of IAS 28 was changed to *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*. Because the Board's intention was not to reconsider the fundamental approach to the accounting for investments in associates established by IAS 28, the Board has incorporated into its Basis for Conclusions on IAS 28 material from the Basis for Conclusions on IAS 28 (as revised in 2003) that the Board has not reconsidered.

#### The structure of IAS 28 and the Board's deliberations

- BC4 IAS 28 as amended in 2011 superseded IAS 28 (as revised in 2003 and amended in 2010). As stated in paragraph BC3, in amending IAS 28, the Board did not reconsider all the Standard's requirements. The requirements in paragraphs 5–11, 15, 22–23, 25–28 and 32–43 relate to the assessment of significant influence and to the equity method and its application, and paragraphs 12–14 relate to the accounting for potential voting rights. With the exception of the Board's decision to incorporate the accounting for joint ventures into IAS 28, those paragraphs were carried forward from IAS 28 and from the Guidance on Implementing IAS 27 *Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements*, IAS 28 *Investments in Associates* and IAS 31 *Interests in Joint Ventures* that was withdrawn when IFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements*, IFRS 11 *Joint Arrangements* and IAS 28 (as amended in 2011) were issued. As a result, those paragraphs were not reconsidered by the Board.
- BC5 When revised in 2003 IAS 28 was accompanied by a Basis for Conclusions summarising the considerations of the Board, as constituted at the time, in reaching its conclusions. That Basis for Conclusions was subsequently updated to reflect amendments to the Standard.

- BC6 The Board has incorporated into its Basis for Conclusions on IAS 28 (as amended in 2011) material from the previous Basis for Conclusions because it discusses matters that the Board has not reconsidered. That material is contained in paragraphs denoted by numbers with the prefix BCZ. In those paragraphs cross-references have been updated accordingly and minor necessary editorial changes have been made.
- BC7 One Board member dissented from an amendment to IAS 28 issued in May 2008, which has been carried forward to IAS 28 (as amended in 2011). His dissenting opinion is also set out after this Basis for Conclusions.
- BC8 The requirements in paragraphs 2, 16–21, 24 and 29–31 relate to matters addressed within the joint ventures project that led to amendments to IAS 28. Paragraphs describing the Board's considerations in reaching its conclusions on IAS 28 are numbered with the prefix BC.
- BC9 As part of its project on consolidation, the Board is examining how an investment entity accounts for its interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. The outcome might affect how organisations such as venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities account for their interests in joint ventures and associates. The Board expects to publish later in 2011 an exposure draft on investment entities.<sup>1, 2</sup>

#### Scope

- BC10 During its redeliberation of the exposure draft ED 9 *Joint Arrangements*, the Board reconsidered the scope exception of IAS 31 that had also been proposed in ED 9. The Board concluded that the scope exception in ED 9 for interests in joint ventures held by venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities, including investment-linked insurance funds, that are measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* is more appropriately characterised as a measurement exemption, and not as a scope exception.
- BC11 The Board observed that IAS 28 had a similar scope exception for investments in associates held by venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities, including investment-linked insurance funds, that are measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.
- BC12 The Board observed that the scope exception in ED 9 and IAS 28 related not to the fact that these arrangements do not have the characteristics of joint arrangements or those investments are not associates, but to the fact that for investments held by venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, fair value measurement provides more useful information for users of the financial statements than would application of the equity method.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In October 2012 the Board issued Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27), which required investment entities, as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, to measure their investments in subsidiaries, other than those providing investment-related services or activities, at fair value through profit or loss. The amendments did not introduce any new accounting requirements for investments in associates or joint ventures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In December 2014, the IASB issued *Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception* (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28). The amendments introduced relief to permit a non-investment entity investor in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity to retain the fair value through profit or loss measurement applied by the associate or joint venture to its subsidiaries (see paragraphs BC46A–BC46G).

- BC13 Accordingly, the Board decided to maintain the option that permits venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds to measure their interests in joint ventures and associates at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9, but clarified that this is an exemption from the requirement to measure interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method, rather than an exception to the scope of IAS 28 for the accounting for joint ventures and associates held by those entities.
- BC14 As a result of that decision and of the decision to incorporate the accounting for joint ventures into IAS 28, the Board decided that IAS 28 should be applied to the accounting for investments held by all entities that have joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee.

#### Significant influence

#### Potential voting rights

- BC15 In its deliberation of the amendments to IAS 28, the Board considered whether the requirements now in paragraphs 7–9 of IAS 28 regarding potential voting rights when assessing significant influence should be changed to be consistent with the requirements developed in the consolidation project.
- BC16 The Board observed that the definition of significant influence in IAS 28 (ie 'the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies') was related to the definition of control as it was defined in IAS 27. The Board had not considered the definition of significant influence when it amended IAS 28 and concluded that it would not be appropriate to change one element of significant influence in isolation. Any such consideration should be done as part of a wider review of the accounting for associates.

#### Application of the equity method

### Temporary joint control and significant influence (2003 revision)

BCZ17 In IFRS 5 *Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations* the Board decided not to exempt an entity from applying the equity method for accounting for its investments in joint ventures and associates when joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee is intended to be temporary.

### Severe long-term restrictions impairing ability to transfer funds to the investor (2003 revision)

BCZ18 The Board decided not to exempt an entity from applying the equity method for accounting for its investments in joint ventures or associates when severe long-term restrictions impaired a joint venture or an associate's ability to transfer funds to the investor. It did so because such circumstances may not preclude the entity's joint control of, or significant influence over, the joint venture or the associate. The Board decided that an entity should, when assessing its ability to exercise joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee, consider restrictions on the transfer of funds from the joint venture or from the associate to the entity. In themselves, such restrictions do not preclude the existence of joint control or significant influence.

#### Non-coterminous year-ends (2003 revision)

BCZ19 The exposure draft that preceded the revision of IAS 28 in 2003 proposed to limit to three months any difference between the reporting dates of an entity and its associate or its joint venture when applying the equity method. Some respondents to that exposure draft believed that it could be impracticable for the entity to prepare financial statements as of the same date when the date of the entity's financial statements and those of the associate or joint venture differ by more than three months. The Board noted that a three-month limit operates in several jurisdictions and it was concerned that a longer period, such as six months, would lead to the recognition of stale information. Therefore, it decided to retain the three-month limit.

### Exemption from applying the equity method: subsidiary of an investment entity

BC19A In December 2014, the Board amended IFRS 10 to confirm that the exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements set out in paragraph 4(a) of IFRS 10 is available to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity. The Board also decided to amend paragraph 17 of IAS 28 for the same reasons. Paragraph 17 of IAS 28 uses the same criteria as paragraph 4(a) of IFRS 10 to provide an exemption from applying the equity method for entities that are subsidiaries and that hold interests in associates and joint ventures.

## Exemption from applying the equity method: measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value (amendments issued in December 2016)

- BC19B When an investment in an associate or joint venture is held by, or is held indirectly through, a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, the entity may elect, in accordance with paragraph 18 of IAS 28, to measure that investment at fair value through profit or loss. The Board received a request to clarify whether the entity is able to choose between applying the equity method or measuring the investment at fair value for each investment, or whether instead the entity applies the same accounting to all of its investments in associates and joint ventures.
- BC19C The Board noted that, before it was revised in 2011, IAS 28 *Investments in Associates* permitted a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities to elect to measure investments in an associate at fair value through profit or loss separately for each associate. However, after the revision, it had become less clear whether such an election was still available to those entities. The Board noted that it did not consider changing these requirements when revising IAS 28 in 2011, and any lack of clarity that arose as a consequence of the amendments in 2011 was unintentional.
- BC19D Accordingly, in Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 2016 Cycle, the Board amended paragraph 18 of IAS 28 to clarify that a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities may elect, at initial recognition, to measure investments in an associate or joint venture at fair value through profit or loss separately for each associate or joint venture.
- BC19E In addition, paragraph 36A of IAS 28 permits an entity that is not an investment entity to retain the fair value measurement applied by its associates and joint ventures (that are investment entities) when applying the equity method. The Board also decided to amend that paragraph to clarify that this choice is available, at initial recognition, for each investment entity associate or joint venture.
- BC19F Some respondents to the Board's proposals said that it was not clear whether, in its separate financial statements, a venture capital organisation or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities:
  - (a) could choose to measure investments in an associate or joint venture at fair value through profit or loss for each associate or joint venture; or
  - (b) would be required to measure all such investments at fair value through profit or loss, on the grounds that paragraph 10 of IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements requires the same accounting for each category of investments and paragraph 11 of IAS 27 requires investments measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 28 to be measured at fair

value in separate financial statements. If this were to be the case, those respondents note that such an outcome would appear to be inconsistent with the objective of the amendments to IAS 28.

- BC19G The Board noted that 'category' is not defined in IFRS Standards, but is used in a number of Standards. For example, IFRS 7 *Financial Instruments: Disclosures* use 'category' to refer to groupings of financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured in different ways—for example, financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss is one category of financial asset and financial assets measured at amortised cost is another category of financial asset. The Board observed that paragraph 10 of IAS 27 should not be read to mean that, in all circumstances, all investments in associates are one 'category' of investment and all investments in joint ventures are one 'category' of investment. The issue raised by respondents arises only if the requirement in paragraph 10 of IAS 27 were to be interpreted in that way. An entity that elects to measure some associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with paragraph 18 of IAS 28 would retain that measurement basis for those associates and joint ventures in its separate financial statements, as required by paragraph 11 of IAS 27. The entity could then choose to measure its remaining associates and joint ventures either at cost, in accordance with IFRS 9 or using the equity method in accordance with paragraph 10 of IAS 27.
- BC19H In response to the Board's proposal to apply the amendments retrospectively, some respondents questioned whether the information needed would be available without the use of hindsight. Others suggested providing transition relief for entities that previously interpreted IAS 28 as requiring the same accounting for all investments in associates and joint ventures. They suggested that, when first applying the amendments, such entities should be allowed to elect to measure each existing investment either at fair value through profit or loss or using the equity method.
- BC19I The Board decided to retain retrospective application of the amendments because the amendments are expected to affect only a narrow population of entities, and such entities (being venture capital organisation, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities) would typically be expected to have fair value information for their investments for management purposes. In addition, if the costs of applying the amendments retrospectively are considered excessive, an entity can choose not to change any of its previous decisions regarding measurement. This is because retrospective application of a choice of measurement for each associate or joint venture, in effect, means that an entity is not required to reassess its previous decisions. The Board also noted that retrospective application in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors means that an entity will not use hindsight when first applying the amendments—paragraph 53 of IAS 8 states that hindsight should not be used when applying a new accounting policy to a prior period, either in making assumptions about what management's intentions would have been in a prior period or in estimating the amounts recognised, measured and disclosed in a prior period.

### Exemptions from applying the equity method: partial use of fair value measurement of associates

- BC20 The Board received a request to clarify whether different measurement bases can be applied to portions of an investment in an associate when part of the investment is not accounted for using the equity method in accordance with paragraph 18 of IAS 28, but it is instead measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. The Board initially deliberated this amendment to IAS 28 as part of the *Improvements to IFRSs* issued in April 2010; however, at its meeting in February 2010 the Board decided to address this issue within the joint ventures project.
- BC21 The Board noted that two views exist with respect to measurement. The first view identifies all direct and indirect interests held in the associate either by the parent or through any of its subsidiaries, and then applies IAS 28 to the entire investment in the associate. In accordance with this view, there is only one investment in the associate and it should be accounted for as a single unit. The second view identifies all direct and indirect interests held in an associate, but then allows the use of the measurement exemption to portions of an investment in an associate if the portion is held by a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, regardless of whether those entities have significant influence over their portion of the investment in the

associate. The Board agreed with the second view and therefore amended IAS 28. The Board decided that equivalent guidance on the partial use of fair value for the measurement of investments in joint ventures should not be provided because the Board thought that such events would be unlikely in practice.

BC22 The Board also discussed whether the partial use of fair value should be allowed only in the case of venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, that have designated their portion of the investment in the associate at fair value through profit or loss in their own financial statements. The Board noted that several situations might arise in which those entities do not measure their portion of the investment in the associate at fair value through profit or loss. In those situations, however, from the group's perspective, the appropriate determination of the business purpose would lead to the measurement of this portion of the investment in the associate at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Consequently, the Board decided that an entity should be able to measure a portion of an investment in an associate held by a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, at fair value through profit or loss in those entities' financial statements.

#### Classification as held for sale

- BC23 ED 9 proposed that an entity should account for an interest in a joint venture that is classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.
- BC24 During its redeliberation of ED 9 the Board noted that the exposure draft *Improvements to IFRSs* published in August 2009 had proposed to amend IFRS 5 so as to require an entity to classify as held for sale its interest in an associate, or in a jointly controlled entity, when it is committed to a sale plan involving loss of significant influence or loss of joint control. Those proposals aimed to clarify that all the interest ('the whole interest') an entity had in an associate or a joint venture had to be classified as held for sale if the entity was committed to a sale plan involving loss of, significant influence over, or joint control of that interest.
- BC25 The Board observed that those proposals were not aligned with the decisions made during the Board's redeliberation of ED 9 to remove all descriptions that associated the loss of joint control and the loss of significant influence with the term 'significant economic event' as introduced in the second phase of the Board's project on business combinations (see paragraphs BC28–BC31).
- BC26 The Board decided that classifying an interest as held for sale should be on the basis of whether the intended disposal meets the criteria for classification as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, rather than on whether the entity had lost joint control of, or significant influence over, that interest. As a result, the Board concluded that when the disposal of an interest, or a portion of an interest, in a joint venture or an associate fulfilled the criteria for classification as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, an entity should classify the whole interest, or a portion of the interest, as held for sale.
- BC27 The Board decided that, in the case of a partial disposal, an entity should maintain the use of the equity method for the retained interest in the joint venture or associate until the portion classified as held for sale is finally disposed of. The Board reasoned that even if the entity has the intention of selling a portion of an interest in an associate or a joint venture, until it does so it still has significant influence over, or joint control of, that investee. After the disposal, an entity should measure the retained interest in the joint venture or associate in accordance with IFRS 9 or in accordance with IAS 28 if the entity still has significant influence over, or joint control of, the retained interest.

#### Discontinuing the use of the equity method

BC28 During its redeliberation of ED 9, the Board reconsidered whether its decision in the second phase of the business combinations project to characterise loss of joint control or loss of significant influence as a significant economic event (ie in the same way that loss of control is characterised as a significant economic event) was appropriate. If it were, the Board thought that the entity should be required to recalibrate the accounting as required by IFRS 10. However, the Board concluded that, although significant, the events are fundamentally different. In the case of loss of control, the cessation of the parent-subsidiary relationship

results in the derecognition of assets and liabilities because the composition of the group changes. If joint control or significant influence is lost the composition of the group is unaffected.

- BC29 The Board also noted that retaining the characterisation of significant economic event in the case of loss of joint control or significant influence when the retained interest is a financial asset is unnecessary. IFRS 9 already requires that in such cases the retained interest (ie a financial asset) must be measured at fair value.
- BC30 In the case of loss of joint control when significant influence is maintained, the Board acknowledged that the investor-investee relationship changes and, consequently, so does the nature of the investment. However, in this instance, both investments (ie the joint venture and the associate) continue to be measured using the equity method. Considering that there is neither a change in the group boundaries nor a change in the measurement requirements, the Board concluded that losing joint control and retaining significant influence is not an event that warrants remeasurement of the retained interest at fair value.
- BC31 Consequently, the Board removed all descriptions that characterise loss of joint control or significant influence as a significant economic event as introduced in the second phase of the Board's project on business combinations.

#### **Incorporation of SIC-13**

- BC32 In the joint ventures project, the Board decided to extend the requirements and guidance in IAS 28 for the accounting for 'downstream' and 'upstream' transactions between an entity and its associate to the accounting for transactions between an entity and its joint venture.
- BC33 In ED 9, the Board proposed to incorporate into the standard on joint arrangements the consensus of SIC-13 *Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers.* Because the Board relocated all the requirements for the accounting for joint ventures into IAS 28, the Board incorporated the consensus of SIC-13 into IAS 28 and extended it to associates.
- BC34 The Board noted that the consensus of SIC-13 regarding non-monetary contributions made by a venturer<sup>3</sup> to a joint venture is consistent with IAS 28, except for the following aspect. SIC-13 established three exceptions for the recognition of gains or losses attributable to the equity interests of the other parties. In response to comments raised by some respondents to ED 9, the Board redeliberated the need to incorporate into IAS 28 the exceptions included in SIC-13 for the recognition by an entity of the portion of a gain or loss attributable to the interests of other unrelated investors in the investee.
- BC35 The Board concluded that only when the transaction lacks commercial substance should there be an exception for the recognition of gains or losses to be carried forward from the consensus of SIC-13 into IAS 28, because the other two exceptions in SIC-13 (ie 'the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the contributed non-monetary asset(s) have not been transferred to the jointly controlled entity' and 'the gain or loss on the non-monetary contribution cannot be measured reliably') either relate to requirements that are not aligned with the principles and requirements of IFRS 11 or relate to a criterion for the recognition of gain or losses (ie 'reliability of measurement') that is already included in the *Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting*.
- BCZ36 To the extent that the entity also receives monetary or non-monetary assets dissimilar to the assets contributed in addition to equity interests in the investee, the realisation of which is not dependent on the future cash flows of the investee, the earnings process is complete. Accordingly, an entity should recognise in full in profit or loss the portion of the gain or loss on the non-monetary contribution relating to the monetary or non-monetary assets received.
- BC37 Additionally, the Board considered whether the requirements in IAS 31 for recognition of losses when downstream or upstream transactions provide evidence of a reduction in the net

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> IFRS 11 *Joint Arrangements*, issued in May 2011, uses the term 'joint venturers' to designate parties that have joint control of a joint venture.

realisable value or impairment loss of the assets transacted or contributed were still relevant and decided to bring them forward to IAS 28.

#### Recognition of losses (2003 revision)

- BCZ38 The 2000 version of IAS 28 and SIC-20 *Equity Accounting Method*—*Recognition of Losses* restricted application of the equity method when, in accounting for the entity's share of losses, the carrying amount of the investment is reduced to zero.
- BCZ39 The Board decided that the base to be reduced to zero should be broader than residual equity interests and should also include other non-equity interests that are in substance part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture, such as long-term receivables. Therefore, the Board decided to withdraw SIC-20.
- BCZ40 The Board also noted that if non-equity investments are not included in the base to be reduced to zero, an entity could restructure its investment to fund the majority in non-equity investments to avoid recognising the losses of the associate or joint venture under the equity method.
- BCZ41 In widening the base against which losses are to be recognised, the Board also clarified the application of the impairment provisions of IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement*<sup>4</sup> to the financial assets that form part of the net investment.

#### Impairment losses (2008 amendment)

- BCZ42 In 2008 the Board identified unclear guidance in IAS 28 regarding the extent to which an impairment reversal should be recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of an investment in an associate or in a joint venture.
- BCZ43 The Board noted that applying the equity method involves adjusting the entity's share of the impairment loss recognised by the associate or joint venture on assets such as goodwill or property, plant and equipment to take account of the acquisition date fair values of those assets. The Board proposed in the exposure draft *Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards* published in October 2007 that an additional impairment recognised by the entity, after applying the equity method, should not be allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Therefore, such an impairment should be reversed in a subsequent period to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment increases.
- BCZ44 Some respondents to the exposure draft expressed the view that the proposed amendment was not consistent with IAS 39 (regarding reversal of an impairment loss on an available-for-sale equity instrument<sup>5</sup>), or with IAS 36 *Impairment of Assets* (regarding the allocation of an impairment loss to goodwill and any reversal of an impairment loss relating to goodwill).
- BCZ45 In its redeliberations, the Board affirmed its previous decisions but, in response to the comments made, decided to clarify the reasons for the amendments. The Board decided that an entity should not allocate an impairment loss to any asset that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or joint venture because the investment is the only asset that the entity controls and recognises.
- BCZ46 The Board also decided that any reversal of this impairment loss should be recognised as an adjustment to the investment in the associate or joint venture to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment increases. This requirement is consistent with IAS 36, which permits the reversal of impairment losses for assets other than goodwill. The Board did not propose to align the requirements for the reversal of an impairment loss with those in IAS 39<sup>6</sup> relating to equity instruments, because an entity recognises an impairment loss on an investment in an associate or joint venture in accordance with IAS 36, rather than in accordance with IAS 39.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* replaced IAS 39. IFRS 9 applies to all items that previously were within the scope of IAS 39.
<sup>5</sup> IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* eliminated the category of available-for-sale financial assets.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaced IAS 39. IFRS 9 applied to all items that previously were within the scope of IAS 39.

### Retaining the fair value measurement applied by an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity

- BC46A In October 2012, the Board issued *Investment Entities* (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27), which required investment entities, as defined in IFRS 10, to measure most investments in subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. The amendments did not introduce any new accounting requirements for investments in associates or joint ventures. This is because paragraphs 18–19 of IAS 28 already allowed an investment entity to measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. A wider range of entities, including venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, may also elect to measure their investments in associates and joint ventures and joint ventures in the same way.
- BC46B Paragraph 33 of IFRS 10 requires a non-investment entity parent of an investment entity to consolidate all entities that it controls, including those controlled through an investment entity subsidiary. This is consistent with the proposal contained in the Exposure Draft *Investment Entities* (the '*Investment Entities* ED'), which was published in August 2011. Some respondents to the *Investment Entities* ED noted that this seemed inconsistent with paragraphs 18–19 of IAS 28, which allow a wider group of entities than only investment entities to measure their investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. The Board acknowledged this inconsistency, and explained its reasons for not amending IAS 28 in line with IFRS 10, in paragraph BC283 of IFRS 10.
- BC46C Subsequently, the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the 'Interpretations Committee') received a request to clarify whether an entity that is not an investment entity should, when applying the equity method of accounting for its investment in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, retain the fair value measurement that is applied by that associate or joint venture to its subsidiaries or, instead, 'unwind' that treatment and apply consolidation procedures. Members of the Interpretations Committee had mixed views on the matter and, because of the need to provide clarity before the end of 2014, the matter was passed to the Board.
- BC46D The Board noted that the scope of the amendment in the *Investment Entities* ED was restricted to providing an exception to the consolidation requirements for investment entity parents. This exception reflects the unique business model of an investment entity, for which fair value information is more relevant than consolidation. This unique business model is not applicable to a non-investment entity parent. Consequently, paragraph 33 of IFRS 10 requires a non-investment entity parent of an investment entity to consolidate all entities that it controls, both directly and indirectly through an investment entity. This requires the non-investment entity parent to unwind the fair value through profit or loss measurement used by its investment entity subsidiaries for indirectly held subsidiaries.
- BC46E The Board also noted that paragraphs 35–36 of IAS 28, which require the use of uniform accounting policies, would apply for a non-investment entity investor and its investment entity associates or joint ventures. This would mean that the subsidiaries of those investment entity associates and joint ventures should be consolidated into the financial statements of those associates and joint ventures prior to the equity method being applied. The Board noted that this is conceptually consistent with the requirement in IFRS 10 for a non-investment entity parent to consolidate subsidiaries held through an investment entity subsidiary.
- BC46F However, some Board members raised concerns about the potentially significant practical difficulties or additional costs that may arise for an entity in unwinding the fair value through profit or loss measurement applied by an investment entity associate or joint venture for their interests in subsidiaries. Some Board members noted that the degree of practical difficulty is different depending on whether the investee is an associate or joint venture. In addition, some Board members noted the structuring risks highlighted in paragraph BC280 of IFRS 10 and noted that an investor's ability to achieve different accounting outcomes by holding investments through an investment entity investee is different depending on whether the investee is an associate or practical different the investee is an associate or a joint venture.

*Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception* (Proposed amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) (the '*Consolidation Exception* ED'), which was published in June 2014, the Board proposed to provide relief to non-investment entity investors for their interests in investment entity associates, but not for their interests in investment entity joint ventures.

BC46G The practicality and cost concerns were noted by the majority of respondents to the *Consolidation Exception* ED. However, the majority of respondents disagreed with the proposal to limit the relief to interests in investment entity associates, noting that the practicality and cost issues also applied to interests in joint ventures. In addition, some respondents disagreed with the concerns about the risk of structuring, noting that the difference between significant influence and joint control is much smaller than the difference between control and joint control. Consequently, the Board decided to provide relief to non-investment entity investors in both investment entity associates and joint ventures and to retain the consistency in treatment in applying the equity method to both associates and joint ventures. This relief permits, but does not require, a non-investment entity investor to retain the fair value through profit or loss measurement applied by an investment entity associate or joint venture for their subsidiaries when applying the equity method.

#### Effective date and transition

- BC47 The Board decided to align the effective date for the Standard with the effective date for IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 *Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities* and IAS 27 *Separate Financial Statements*. When making this decision, the Board noted that the five IFRSs all deal with the assessment of, and related accounting and disclosure requirements about, a reporting entity's special relationships with other entities (ie when the reporting entity has control or joint control of, or significant influence over, another entity). As a result, the Board concluded that applying IAS 28 without also applying the other four IFRSs could cause unwarranted confusion.
- BC48 The Board usually sets an effective date of between twelve and eighteen months after issuing an IFRS. When deciding the effective date for those IFRSs, the Board considered the following factors:
  - (a) the time that many countries require for translation and for introducing the mandatory requirements into law.
  - (b) the consolidation project was related to the global financial crisis that started in 2007 and was accelerated by the Board in response to urgent requests from the leaders of the G20, the Financial Stability Board, users of financial statements, regulators and others to improve the accounting and disclosure of an entity's 'off balance sheet' activities.
  - (c) the comments received from respondents to the Request for Views Effective Date and Transition Methods that was published in October 2010 regarding implementation costs, effective date and transition requirements of the IFRSs to be issued in 2011. Most respondents did not identify the consolidation and joint arrangements IFRSs as having a high impact in terms of the time and resources that their implementation would require. In addition, only a few respondents commented that the effective dates of those IFRSs should be aligned with those of the other IFRSs to be issued in 2011.
- BC49 With those factors in mind, the Board decided to require entities to apply the five IFRSs for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
- BC50 Most respondents to the Request for Views supported early application of the IFRSs to be issued in 2011. Respondents stressed that early application was especially important for first-time adopters in 2011 and 2012. The Board was persuaded by these arguments and decided to permit early application of IAS 28 but only if an entity applies it in conjunction with the other IFRSs (ie IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (as amended in 2011)) to avoid a lack of comparability among financial statements, and for the reasons noted in paragraph BC47 that triggered the Board's decision to set the same effective date for all five IFRSs. Even though an entity should apply the five IFRSs at the same time, the Board noted that an

entity should not be prevented from providing any information required by IFRS 12 early if by doing so users gained a better understanding of the entity's relationships with other entities.

BC50A The Board decided that no specific transition guidance was needed and, therefore, an entity should apply *Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception* (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28) retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

#### General

#### Withdrawal of IAS 28 (2003 revision)

BC51 IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures replaces IAS 28 Investments in Associates (as revised in 2003 and amended in 2010). IAS 28 (as amended in 2011) incorporates the accounting for joint ventures and includes some amendments discussed by the Board during its redeliberation of the exposure draft ED 9.

#### Disclosure

- BC52 IAS 28 does not address the disclosure requirements for entities with joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee. As part of its redeliberation of ED 9 and ED 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements*, the Board identified an opportunity to integrate and make consistent the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities, and to present those requirements in a single IFRS.
- BC53 The Board observed that IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31 contained many similar disclosure requirements. ED 9 had already proposed amendments to the disclosure requirements for joint ventures and associates to align the disclosure requirements for those two types of investments more closely. The Board noted that the majority of respondents agreed with the proposals in ED 9 to align the disclosures for joint ventures with the disclosures in IAS 28 for associates.
- BC54 As a result, the Board combined the disclosure requirements for interest with subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities within a single comprehensive standard, IFRS 12.
- BC55 The Basis for Conclusions accompanying IFRS 12 summarises the Board's considerations in developing that IFRS, including its review of responses to the disclosure proposals in ED 9. Accordingly, IAS 28 does not include disclosure requirements and this Basis for Conclusions does not incorporate the Board's considerations of responses to the proposed disclosure requirements in ED 9.

#### Summary of main changes from IAS 28 (2003 revision)

- BC56 The main changes from the previous version of IAS 28 are as follows:
  - (a) The accounting for joint ventures has been incorporated into the Standard.
  - (b) The scope exception for venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities, including investment-linked insurance funds has been eliminated and has been characterised as a measurement exemption from the requirement to measure investments in associates and joint ventures in using the equity method.
  - (c) IAS 28 now permits an entity that has an investment in an associate, a portion of which is held indirectly through venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked insurance funds, to elect to measure that portion of the investment in the associate at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 regardless of whether these entities have significant influence over that portion of the investment.
  - (d) IAS 28 requires a portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture to be classified as held for sale if the disposal of that portion of the interest would fulfil the criteria to be classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.
  - (e) The consensus of SIC-13 has been incorporated into IAS 28. As a result, gains and losses resulting from a contribution of a non-monetary asset to an associate or a joint venture in exchange for an equity interest in an associate or a joint venture are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate or joint venture, except when the contribution lacks commercial substance, as that term is described in IAS 16 *Property, Plant and Equipment*.
  - (f) The disclosure requirements have been placed in IFRS 12.

#### **Dissenting opinion on amendment issued in May 2008**

#### **Dissent of Tatsumi Yamada**

- DO1 Mr Yamada voted against one of the amendments to IAS 28 *Investments in Associates* issued in *Improvements to IFRSs* in May 2008.
- DO2 Mr Yamada believes it is inappropriate not to allocate any additional impairment losses to the goodwill and other assets that form part of the carrying amount of the investment in the associate. In his view, because he believes that an investor can identify attributable goodwill when it makes an investment, all impairment losses recognised with respect to the investor's investment in an associate should be allocated to the goodwill and other assets that form part of the carrying amount of the investment.
- DO3 Mr Yamada also believes that all impairment losses allocated to goodwill should not be subsequently reversed. In his view the non-allocation of impairment losses to goodwill as required by the amendment and the subsequent reversal of such impairment losses in substance leads to the recognition of internally generated goodwill. He believes that the amendment to IAS 28 is not consistent with paragraphs 124 and 125 of IAS 36 *Impairment of Assets*, which prohibit the reversal of impairment losses related to goodwill.

#### **Table of Concordance**

This table shows how the contents of the superseded version of HKAS 28 (issued in 2004) and the amended version of HKAS 28 in 2011 correspond. Some requirements in the superseded version of HKAS 28 were incorporated into HKFRS 12 *Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities*; this table also shows how those paragraphs correspond. Paragraphs are treated as corresponding if they broadly address the same matter even though the guidance may differ.

| Superseded<br>HKAS 28<br>paragraph | Amended<br>HKAS 28<br>paragraph | HKFRS 12<br>paragraph | Amended<br>HKAS 27<br>paragraph |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|
| 1                                  | 2, 18, 19                       |                       |                                 |
| 2                                  | 3, 4                            |                       |                                 |
| 3                                  |                                 |                       | 7                               |
| 4                                  |                                 |                       | 6                               |
| 5                                  |                                 |                       | 8                               |
| 6                                  | 5                               |                       |                                 |
| 7                                  | 6                               |                       |                                 |
| 8                                  | 7                               |                       |                                 |
| 9                                  | 8                               |                       |                                 |
| 10                                 | 9                               |                       |                                 |
| 11                                 | 10                              |                       |                                 |
| 12                                 | 12                              |                       |                                 |
| 13                                 | 17                              |                       |                                 |
| 14                                 | 20                              |                       |                                 |
| 15                                 | 21                              |                       |                                 |
| 16                                 | 11                              |                       |                                 |
| 17                                 | 22                              |                       |                                 |
| 18                                 | 22                              |                       |                                 |
| 19                                 | 22                              |                       |                                 |
| 19A                                | 23                              |                       |                                 |
| 20                                 | 26                              |                       |                                 |
| 21                                 | 27                              |                       |                                 |
| 22                                 | 28                              |                       |                                 |
| 23                                 | 32                              |                       |                                 |
| 24                                 | 33                              |                       |                                 |
| 25                                 | 34                              |                       |                                 |
| 26                                 | 35                              |                       |                                 |
|                                    | 1                               | 26                    | HKAS 28 (2011) (Septe           |

| 27      | 36                             |       |   |
|---------|--------------------------------|-------|---|
| 28      | 37                             |       |   |
| 29      | 38                             |       |   |
| 30      | 39                             |       |   |
| 31      | 40                             |       |   |
| 32      | 41                             |       |   |
| 33      | 42                             |       |   |
| 34      | 43                             |       |   |
| 35      | 44                             |       |   |
| 36      |                                |       | 3 |
| 37      |                                | 21–24 |   |
| 38      |                                | 21–24 |   |
| 39      |                                | 21–24 |   |
| 40      |                                | 21–24 |   |
| 41      | 45                             |       |   |
| 41A–41E |                                |       |   |
| 42      | 47                             |       |   |
| 43      | 47                             |       |   |
| None    | 1, 13–16,<br>24, 25, 29–31, 46 |       |   |

# Amendments to the Basis for Conclusions on IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

This appendix contains amendments to the Basis for Conclusions of IAS 28 that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be incorporated into the text of the Basis for Conclusions of IAS 28 and this appendix will deleted.

Paragraphs BC37A–BC37J and their related heading are added. New text relating to the 2014 Amendments is underlined. New text relating to the 2015 Amendments is underlined and shaded in grey.

# Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture—amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued in September 2014)

- <u>BC37A</u> The IFRS Interpretations Committee received a request to clarify whether a business meets the definition of a 'non-monetary asset'. The question was asked within the context of identifying whether the requirements of SIC-13<sup>1</sup> and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) apply when a business is contributed to a jointly controlled entity (as defined in IAS 31<sup>2</sup>), a joint venture (as defined in IFRS 11) or an associate, in exchange for an equity interest in that jointly controlled entity, joint venture or associate. The business may be contributed either when the jointly controlled entity, joint venture or associate is established or thereafter.
- BC37B The Board noted that this matter is related to the issues arising from the acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) and SIC-13, when accounting for the contribution of a subsidiary to a jointly controlled entity, joint venture or associate (resulting in the loss of control of the subsidiary). In accordance with SIC-13, the amount of the gain or loss recognised resulting from the contribution of a non-monetary asset to a jointly controlled entity in exchange for an equity interest in that jointly controlled entity is restricted to the extent of the interests attributable to the unrelated investors in the jointly controlled entity. However, IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) requires full profit or loss recognition on the loss of control of a subsidiary.
- BC37C This inconsistency between IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) and SIC-13 remained after IFRS 10 replaced IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) and SIC-13 was withdrawn. The requirements in IFRS 10 on the accounting for the loss of control of a subsidiary are similar to the requirements in IAS 27 (as revised in 2008). The requirements in SIC-13 are incorporated into paragraphs 28 and 30 of IAS 28 (as amended in 2011) and apply to the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Because IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) and SIC-13 have been superseded at the time when the amendments become effective, the Board decided to amend only IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (as amended in 2011).
- BC37D In dealing with the conflict between the requirements in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (as amended in 2011), the Board was concerned that the existing requirements could result in the accounting for a transaction being driven by its form rather than by its substance. For example, different accounting might be applied to a transaction involving the same underlying assets depending on whether those assets were:
  - (a) transferred in a transaction that is structured as a sale of assets or as a sale of the entity that holds the assets; or
  - (b) sold in exchange for cash or contributed in exchange for an equity interest.

SIC-13 has been withdrawn. The requirements in SIC-13 are incorporated into IAS 28 (as amended in 2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> IAS 31 was superseded by IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements issued in May 2011.

- BC37E The Board concluded that:
  - (a) the accounting for the loss of control of a business, as defined in IFRS 3, should be consistent with the conclusions in IFRS 3; and
  - (b) <u>a full gain or loss should therefore be recognised on the loss of control of a business,</u> regardless of whether that business is housed in a subsidiary or not.
- BC37F Because assets that do not constitute a business were not part of the Business Combinations project, the Board concluded that:
  - (a) the current requirements in IAS 28 (as amended in 2011) for the partial gain or loss recognition for transactions between an investor and its associate or joint venture should only apply to the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not constitute a business; and
  - (b) IFRS 10 should be amended so that a partial gain or loss is recognised in accounting for the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not constitute a business as a result of a transaction between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
- BC37G The Board discussed whether all sales and contributions (including the sale or contribution of assets that do not constitute a business) should be consistent with IFRS 3. Although it considered this alternative to be the most robust from a conceptual point of view, it noted that this would require addressing multiple cross-cutting issues. Because of concerns that the cross-cutting issues could not be addressed on a timely basis the conclusions described in paragraphs BC37E–BC37F were considered the best way to address this issue.
- BC37H The Board decided that both 'upstream' and 'downstream' transactions should be affected by the amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (as amended in 2011). The Board noted that if assets that constitute a business were sold by an associate or a joint venture to the investor (in an upstream transaction), with the result that the investor takes control of that business, the investor would account for this transaction as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3.
- BC37I The Board decided that the amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (as amended in 2011) should apply prospectively to transactions that occur in annual periods beginning on or after the date that the amendments become effective. The Board observed that the requirements in IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) for the loss of control of a subsidiary (see paragraph 45(c) of IAS 27 as revised in 2008) were applied prospectively. The Board also noted that transactions dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary or a business between an investor and its associate or joint venture are discrete non-recurring transactions. Consequently, the Board concluded that the benefits of comparative information would not exceed the cost of providing it. The Board also decided to allow entities to early apply the amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (as amended in 2011).

# Deferral of the *Effective Date of Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS* 28 (issued in September 2014)

BC37J In December 2015, the Board decided to defer indefinitely the effective date of the amendments made to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in September 2014. See paragraphs BC190L–BC190O of the Basis for Conclusions on IFRS 10 *Consolidated Financial Statements*.

### **Dissenting Opinions**

# Dissenting Opinions from Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and *its Associate or Joint Venture* (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) as issued in September 2014

DO1 Mr Kabureck, Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi voted against the publication of *Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture* (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28). The reasons for their dissents are set out below.

#### **Dissent of Mr Kabureck**

- DO2 Mr Kabureck dissents from the amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, which require full gain or loss recognition in the accounting for the loss of control when a parent (investor) sells or contributes a business, as defined in IFRS 3 *Business Combinations*, to an investee (ie an associate or a joint venture) that is accounted for using the equity method.
- DO3 He agrees that the control of a business can be lost regardless of whether the acquirer is a related or an unrelated party. However, he believes that the accounting for the gain or loss should be different if the sale or contribution is to an investee that is accounted for using the equity method. He observes that the investor's interest in the gain or loss will eventually affect the future investee's profit or loss recognised in the investor's profit or loss.
- DO4 His concern can be illustrated by a simple example:

An investor sells a business to a 40 per cent-owned associate accounted for using the equity method. The full gain is CU100.<sup>\*</sup> This gain of CU100 is reflected in the associate's financial statements through the higher value of the net assets acquired. Over time, assuming that no goodwill or indefinite lived intangible assets are involved, the associate's future profits or losses will be lower by CU100 as the assets are consumed and, therefore, the investor's share of the associate's profits or losses will be lower by CU40. Consequently, the net gain of the investor over time is CU60, not CU100.

- DO5 Accordingly, he believes that a more faithful representation of the transaction would be to recognise an immediate gain of CU60 and a deferred gain of CU40, which would be amortised into income, making it consistent with the consumption of the sold assets in the investee's operations. He believes that it would be inappropriate to immediately recognise the full gain knowing that over time there would be lower profits to the extent of the equity interest in the investee.
- DO6 Mr Kabureck observes that his preferred partial gain or loss accounting is consistent with the accounting for the sales of assets that do not constitute a business, as described in paragraphs BC190F of IFRS 10 and BC37F of IAS 28. Whether or not the assets sold or contributed do, or do not, constitute a business, seems to him to provide little rationale for different gain or loss treatment. He further observes that the line between what constitutes a business versus a collection of assets is frequently unclear, often based on judgement and represents an interpretation challenge in practice. He disagrees with introducing another accounting difference that is dependent on the interpretation of the definition of a business.

In this document, monetary items are denominated by 'currency units' (CU).

#### Dissent of Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi

- DO7 Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi agree that the sale of assets that constitute a business and the sale of assets that do not constitute a business should be treated differently for the reasons given in paragraphs BC190G of IFRS 10 and BC37G of IAS 28. However, they also believe that the accounting result should not differ depending on whether assets that do not constitute a business are transferred in a transaction that is structured as a sale of assets or as a sale of the entity that holds those assets. Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi believe that these amendments do not achieve that result.
- DO8 The stated objective of these amendments is to address the conflict between the requirements of IFRS 10 and IAS 28. Prior to these amendments, IFRS 10 required full gain or loss recognition on the loss of control of a subsidiary, whereas IAS 28 restricted the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets to an associate or a joint venture to the extent of the interests that were attributable to unrelated investors in that associate or joint venture (downstream transactions).
- DO9 As a result of these amendments, there will continue to be a full gain or loss recognition on the loss of control of a subsidiary that constitutes a business under IFRS 10, as well as a full gain or loss recognition resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business between an investor and its associate or joint venture under IAS 28. The gain or loss recognised on the sale of the business will be the same whether it is structured as a sale of assets that constitute a business or as a sale of the entity that contains a business. As stated above, Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi agree with this result.
- DO10 Even after the amendments, IAS 28 will continue to restrict the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not constitute a business to an associate or a joint venture to the extent of the interests that are attributable to unrelated investors in that associate or joint venture. However, as a result of these amendments, under IFRS 10, when an entity sells an interest in a subsidiary that does not contain a business to an associate or a joint venture and as a result loses control of that subsidiary but retains joint control or significant influence over it, the gain or loss recognised is also limited to the unrelated investor's interests in the associate or joint venture to which the interest in the subsidiary was sold. In addition, the entity will remeasure its retained interest in the former subsidiary to fair value at the date it loses control, even though that retained interest is not in an entity that constitutes a business. Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi acknowledge that under the amendments, recognition of the gain or loss on remeasurement will be limited to the unrelated investor's interests in the associate or joint venture to which the interest in the subsidiary was sold. However, because Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi believe the sale of a subsidiary that does not constitute a business, and the sale of the assets held in that subsidiary, is substantially the same transaction, they do not find any justification for the recognition of any additional gain on the remeasurement of the retained portion.
- DO11 Furthermore, Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi note that if the retained interest in the former subsidiary is an investment accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* or IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement*, the amount of gain or loss recognised on remeasurement will not be restricted. A full gain or loss will be recognised on remeasurement of the retained interest even though that interest is not in an entity that constitutes a business. As a result of the remeasurement of the retained interest in the former subsidiary, the amount of gain or loss recognised in a transaction involving the same underlying assets will still be different depending on whether those assets are transferred in a transaction that is structured as a sale of assets or as a sale of the entity that holds the assets. Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi disagree with this result. They believe that the remeasurement of a retained interest in a former subsidiary to fair value when control is lost is a fundamental principle of IFRS 10. They also believe that accounting for equity interests that do not represent control, joint control or significant

influence at fair value is a fundamental principle of IFRS 9 and IAS 39. Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi do not believe that these principles can be reconciled in a limited-scope amendment to the treatment in IAS 28 of downstream transactions that involve the sale of assets that do not constitute a business.

DO12 Consequently, Ms Lloyd and Mr Ochi dissent from these amendments because they do not fully address the concerns of the Board and the IFRS Interpretations Committee as set out in paragraphs BC190D of IFRS 10 and BC37D of IAS 28.

# Amendments to the Basis for Conclusions on IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

This appendix contains amendments to the Basis for Conclusions of IAS 28 that are not yet effective. Once effective, the amendments set out below will be incorporated into the text of the Basis for Conclusions of IAS 28 and this appendix will be deleted.

Paragraphs BC16A–BC16L and their related headings are added.

# Equity method

## Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures

- BC16A The Board received a submission relating to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term interests). The submission asked whether long-term interests are within the scope of IFRS 9 and, if so, whether the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 apply to such long-term interests.
- BC16B In considering the submission, the Board and the IFRS Interpretations Committee discussed the accounting for long-term interests applying the requirements in IFRS 9 and IAS 28, without reconsidering those requirements. The submission was narrowly and clearly defined, and both bodies concluded they could respond to the submission most efficiently by considering only the submission received. Any reconsideration of the accounting for long-term interests could not be undertaken as a narrow-scope project and would be likely to involve reconsideration of the equity method, a topic included in the Board's pipeline of future research projects. Consequently, the Board limited the amendments to clarifying its intentions when it issued the requirements in IFRS 9 and IAS 28.
- BC16C The Board concluded that with respect to interests in an associate or joint venture, paragraph 2.1(a) of IFRS 9 excludes from the scope of IFRS 9 only interests to which the equity method is applied. Accordingly, the scope exclusion in that paragraph does not include long-term interests (as described in paragraph 38 of IAS 28). In reaching this conclusion, the Board noted that IAS 28 mentions long-term interests and the net investment, which includes long-term interests, only in the context of recognising losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of the net investment in the associate or joint venture. IAS 28 does not specify requirements for other aspects of recognising or measuring long-term interests. Thus, long-term interests are not accounted for in accordance with IAS 28, as envisaged in paragraph 2.1(a) of IFRS 9. The Board also noted that paragraph 14 of IAS 28 states that 'IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* does not apply to interests in associates and joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method'.
- BC16D The Board clarified in paragraph 14A of IAS 28 that IFRS 9, including its impairment requirements, applies to long-term interests. The Board also deleted paragraph 41 as part of the amendments. That paragraph had merely reiterated requirements in IFRS 9, and had created confusion about the accounting for long-term interests.
- BC16E Respondents to the Board's Exposure Draft on long-term interests suggested that it further clarify how the requirements in IAS 28 and IFRS 9 apply to long-term interests because, in the respondents' view, the benefits of the amendments would be limited without such clarifications. Respondents also suggested including an illustrative example.

- BC16F In response, the Board clarified that an entity applies IFRS 9, rather than IAS 28, in accounting for long-term interests. Thus, when applying IFRS 9, it does not take account of any losses of the associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint venture applying IAS 28.
- BC16G In addition, at the same time it issued the amendments, the Board published an example that illustrates how entities apply the requirements in IAS 28 and IFRS 9 with respect to long-term interests.

## Effective date and transition

- BC16H The Board proposed to align the effective date of the amendments with the effective date of IFRS 9—annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Some respondents said an effective date of 1 January 2018 would not allow sufficient time to implement the amendments. In particular, the respondents mentioned entities in jurisdictions that have a translation or endorsement process for IFRS Standards.
- BC16I In the light of these concerns, the Board set an effective date of annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted. The Board noted that if an entity elects to apply the amendments when it first applies IFRS 9, then it would benefit from applying the transition requirements in IFRS 9 to long-term interests.
- BC16J Considering the effective date of 1 January 2019 and the requirement to apply the amendments retrospectively, the Board also provided transition requirements similar to those in IFRS 9 for entities that apply the amendments after they first apply IFRS 9. This is because retrospective application may not have been possible without the use of hindsight. When the Board developed IFRS 9, it provided transition requirements for scenarios in which it would have been impracticable for an entity to apply particular requirements retrospectively. Consequently, the Board provided similar transition requirements in the amendments to IAS 28 for long-term interests because the effect of the amendments might be that an entity applies IFRS 9 for the first time to those interests. Accordingly, for example, such an entity would assess its business model for such long-term interests based on the facts and circumstances that exist on the date it first applies the amendments (for example, 1 January 2019 for an entity applying the amendments from that date).
- BC16K The Board noted that at the date of initial application of the amendments an entity would be able to use these transition requirements only for long-term interests and not for other financial instruments to which the entity has already applied IFRS 9. Accordingly, for example, an entity is not permitted (or required) to reconsider any of its fair value option elections for financial instruments to which the entity has already applied IFRS 9.
- BC16L The Board also decided to provide relief from restating prior periods for entities electing, in accordance with IFRS 4 *Insurance Contracts*, to apply the temporary exemption from IFRS 9. The Board observed that the effect of the amendments for such entities might be that they apply IAS 39 for the first time to long-term interests.

# **Dissenting opinion**

### Dissent of Mr Takatsugu Ochi from Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)

- DO1 Mr Ochi voted against the publication of *Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures* (Amendments to IAS 28). The reasons for his dissent are set out below.
- DO2 Mr Ochi believes that interests in an associate or joint venture should be subject to either the requirements in IFRS 9 or the requirements in IAS 28, but not both. Accordingly, he disagrees with amending IAS 28 without also specifying the types of interests in an associate or joint venture that an entity accounts for using the equity method, and the types of interests in such entities that an entity accounts for applying IFRS 9.
- DO3 Mr Ochi notes that the amendments would result in 'dual application' of accounting requirements to the same asset, which he thinks is contrary to basic principles of accounting standards. He believes that such dual application of accounting requirements might result in double counting and, therefore, could undermine the quality of financial statements.

# Illustrative Example—Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

This example portrays a hypothetical situation illustrating how an entity (investor) accounts for long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the entity's net investment in an associate (long-term interests) applying IFRS 9 and IAS 28 based on the assumptions presented. The entity applies IFRS 9 in accounting for long-term interests. The entity applies IAS 28 to its net investment in the associate, which includes long-term interests. The analysis in this example is not intended to represent the only manner in which the requirements in IAS 28 could be applied.

# Assumptions

The investor has the following three types of interests in the associate:

- (a) O Shares—ordinary shares representing a 40% ownership interest to which the investor applies the equity method. This interest is the least senior of the three interests, based on their relative priority in liquidation.
- (b) P Shares—non-cumulative preference shares that form part of the net investment in the associate and that the investor measures at fair value through profit or loss applying IFRS 9.
- (c) LT Loan—a long-term loan that forms part of the net investment in the associate and that the investor measures at amortised cost applying IFRS 9, with a stated interest rate and an effective interest rate of 5% a year. The associate makes interest-only payments to the investor each year. The LT Loan is the most senior of the three interests.

The LT Loan is not an originated credit-impaired loan. Throughout the years illustrated, there has not been any objective evidence that the net investment in the associate is impaired applying IAS 28, nor does the LT Loan become credit-impaired applying IFRS 9.

The associate does not have any outstanding cumulative preference shares classified as equity, as described in paragraph 37 of IAS 28. Throughout the years illustrated, the associate neither declares nor pays dividends on O Shares or P Shares.

The investor has not incurred any legal or constructive obligations, nor made payments on behalf of the associate, as described in paragraph 39 of IAS 28. Accordingly, the investor does not recognise its share of the associate's losses once the carrying amount of its net investment in the associate is reduced to zero.

The amount of the investor's initial investment in O Shares is CU200<sup>.1</sup> in P Shares is CU100 and in the LT Loan is CU100. On acquisition of the investment, the cost of the investment equals the investor's share of the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities.

This table summarises the carrying amount at the end of each year for P Shares and the LT Loan applying IFRS 9 but before applying IAS 28, and the associate's profit (loss) for each year. The amounts for the LT Loan are shown net of the loss allowance.

<sup>1</sup> 

In this Illustrative Example, currency amounts are denominated in currency units (CU).

| At the end of | P Shares applying<br>IFRS 9 (fair value) | LT Loan applying<br>IFRS 9 (amortised<br>cost) | Profit (Loss) of the associate |
|---------------|--|--|--------------------------------|
| Year 1        | CU110                                    | CU90   | CU50                           |
| Year 2        | CU90                                     | CU70   | CU(200)                        |
| Year 3        | CU50 CU50                                |  | CU(500)                        |
| Year 4        | CU40                                     | CU50   | CU(150)                        |
| Year 5        | CU60                                     | CU60   | -                              |
| Year 6        | CU80                                     | CU70   | CU500                          |
| Year 7        | CU110                                    | CU90   | CU500                          |

# Analysis

### Year 1

The investor recognises the following in Year 1:

Investments in the associate:

| DR. O Shares  | CU200 |       |
|---|-------|-------|
| DR. P Shares  | CU100 |       |
| DR. LT Loan   | CU100 |       |
| CR. Cash  |       | CU400 |
| To recognise the initial investment in the associate                            |       |       |
| DR. P Shares  | CU10  |       |
| CR. Profit or loss  |       | CU10  |
| To recognise the change in fair value (CU110 – CU100)                           |       |       |
| DR. Profit or loss  | CU10  |       |
| CR. Loss allowance (LT Loan)  |       | CU10  |
| To recognise an increase in the loss allowance (CU90 – CU100)                   |       |       |
| DR. O Shares  | CU20  |       |
| CR. Profit or loss  |       | CU20  |
| To recognise the investor's share of the associate's profit (CU50 $\times$ 40%) |       |       |

At the end of Year 1, the carrying amount of O Shares is CU220, P Shares is CU110 and the LT Loan (net of loss allowance) is CU90.

### Year 2

The investor recognises the following in Year 2:

| DR. Profit or loss   | CU20 |  |
|--|------|--|
| CR. P Shares   | CU20 |  |
| To recognise the change in fair value (CU90 – CU110)         |      |  |
| DR. Profit or loss   | CU20 |  |
| CR. Loss allowance (LT Loan)                                 | CU20 |  |
| To recognise an increase in the loss allowance (CU70 – CU90) |      |  |
| DR. Profit or loss   | CU80 |  |
| CR. O Shares   | CU80 |  |

To recognise the investor's share of the associate's loss (CU200 × 40%)

At the end of Year 2, the carrying amount of O Shares is CU140, P Shares is CU90 and the LT Loan (net of loss allowance) is CU70.

### Year 3

Applying paragraph 14A of IAS 28, the investor applies IFRS 9 to P Shares and the LT Loan before it applies paragraph 38 of IAS 28. Accordingly, the investor recognises the following in Year 3:

| DR. Profit or loss   | CU40  |       |
|--|-------|-------|
| CR. P Shares   |       | CU40  |
| To recognise the change in fair value (CU50 – CU90)          |       |       |
| DR. Profit or loss   | CU20  |       |
| CR. Loss allowance (LT Loan)                                 |       | CU20  |
| To recognise an increase in the loss allowance (CU50 – CU70) |       |       |
| DR. Profit or loss   | CU200 |       |
| CR. O Shares   |       | CU140 |
| CR. P Shares   |       | CU50  |
| CR. LT Loan  |       | CU10  |

To recognise the investor's share of the associate's loss in reverse order of seniority as specified in paragraph 38 of IAS 28 (CU500  $\times$  40%)

At the end of Year 3, the carrying amount of O Shares is zero, P Shares is zero and the LT Loan (net of loss allowance) is CU40.

CU30

### Year 4

DR. P Shares

Applying IFRS 9 to its interests in the associate, the investor recognises the following in Year 4:

DR. Profit or loss CU10 CR. P Shares

To recognise the change in fair value (CU40 – CU50)

Recognition of the change in fair value of CU10 in Year 4 results in the carrying amount of P Shares being negative CU10. Consequently, the investor recognises the following to reverse a portion of the associate's losses previously allocated to P Shares:

CR. Profit or loss CU10

### To reverse a portion of the associate's losses previously allocated to P Shares

Applying paragraph 38 of IAS 28, the investor limits the recognition of the associate's losses to CU40 because the carrying amount of its net investment in the associate is then zero. Accordingly, the investor recognises the following:

DR. Profit or loss CU40 CR. LT Loan

To recognise the investor's share of the associate's loss

At the end of Year 4, the carrying amount of O Shares is zero, P Shares is zero and the LT Loan (net of loss allowance) is zero. There is also an unrecognised share of the associate's losses of CU30 (the investor's share of the associate's cumulative losses of CU340 - CU320 losses recognised cumulatively + CU10 losses reversed).

### Year 5

Applying IFRS 9 to its interests in the associate, the investor recognises the following in Year 5:

| DR. P Shares  | CU20 |      |
|---|------|------|
| CR. Profit or loss                                  |      | CU20 |
| To recognise the change in fair value (CU60 – CU40) |      |      |
| DR. Loss allowance (LT Loan)                        | CU10 |      |
| CR. Profit or loss                                  |      | CU10 |

To recognise a decrease in the loss allowance (CU60 – CU50)

After applying IFRS 9 to P Shares and the LT Loan, these interests have a positive carrying amount. Consequently, the investor allocates the previously unrecognised share of the associate's losses of CU30 to these interests.

DR. Profit or loss

CU10

CU10

CU40

| CR. P Shares   | CU20  |
|--|---|
| CR. LT Loan  | CU10  |
| To recognise the previously unrecognised share of the asso                             | ciate's losses                              |
| At the end of Year 5, the carrying amount of O Shares is zero loss allowance) is zero. | o, P Shares is zero and the LT Loan (net of |
| Year 6   |   |
| Applying IFRS 9 to its interests in the associate, the investor                        | recognises the following in Year 6:         |
| DR. P Shares   | CU20  |
| CR. Profit or loss   | CU20  |
| To recognise the change in fair value (CU80 – CU60)                                    |   |
| DR. Loss allowance (LT Loan)   | CU10  |

To recognise a decrease in the loss allowance (CU70 – CU60)

CR. Profit or loss

The investor allocates the associate's profit to each interest in the order of seniority. The investor limits the amount of the associate's profit it allocates to P Shares and the LT Loan to the amount of equity method losses previously allocated to those interests, which in this example is CU60 for both interests.

| DR. O Shares       | CU80  |
|--------------------|-------|
| DR. P Shares       | CU60  |
| DR. LT Loan        | CU60  |
| CR. Profit or loss | CU200 |

To recognise the investor's share of the associate's profit (CU500 × 40%)

At the end of Year 6, the carrying amount of O Shares is CU80, P Shares is CU80 and the LT Loan (net of loss allowance) is CU70.

CU10

## Year 7

The investor recognises the following in Year 7:

| DR. P Shares  | CU30  |       |
|---|-------|-------|
| CR. Profit or loss  |       | CU30  |
| To recognise the change in fair value (CU110 – CU80)        |       |       |
| DR. Loss allowance (LT Loan)                                | CU20  |       |
| CR. Profit or loss  |       | CU20  |
| To recognise a decrease in the loss allowance (CU90 – CU70) |       |       |
| DR. O Shares  | CU200 |       |
| CR. Profit or loss  |       | CU200 |

To recognise the investor's share of the associate's profit (CU500 × 40%)

At the end of Year 7, the carrying amount of O Shares is CU280, P Shares is CU110 and the LT Loan (net of loss allowance) is CU90.

### Years 1–7

When recognising interest revenue on the LT Loan in each year, the investor does not take account of any adjustments to the carrying amount of the LT Loan that arose from applying IAS 28 (paragraph 14A of IAS 28). Accordingly, the investor recognises the following in each year:

DR. Cash CU5 CR. Profit or loss CU5

To recognise interest revenue on LT Loan based on the effective interest rate of 5%

## Summary of amounts recognised in profit or loss

| Items recognised<br>During | Impairment<br>(Iosses),<br>including<br>reversals,<br>applying IFRS 9 | Gains (losses) of<br>P Shares<br>applying IFRS 9 | Share of profit<br>(loss) of the<br>associate<br>recognised<br>applying the<br>equity method | Interest revenue<br>applying IFRS 9 |
|----------------------------|---|--|--|-------------------------------------|
| Year 1                     | CU(10)  | CU10   | CU20   | CU5                                 |
| Year 2                     | CU(20)  | CU(20)   | CU(80)   | CU5                                 |
| Year 3                     | CU(20)  | CU(40)   | CU(200)  | CU5                                 |
| Year 4                     | -   | CU(10)   | CU(30)   | CU5                                 |
| Year 5                     | CU10  | CU20   | CU(30)   | CU5                                 |
| Year 6                     | CU10  | CU20   | CU200  | CU5                                 |
| Year 7                     | CU20  | CU30   | CU200  | CU5                                 |

This table summarises the amounts recognised in the investor's profit or loss.